Definition and research on complex homeopathy

From the FAKOM website https://www.fakom.de/was-ist-komplexhomoeopathie/

Contents:

What is complex homeopathy?

Complement or alternative?

Complex remedies, homeopathy and medicinal plant therapy

Simile principle

Potentiation

History of complex homeopathy

Conclusion

Research on Homoeopathy

Health services research

Example Witt el al. (2005)

Example EPI3 cohort (2012-2016)

Conclusion of health services research

Safety

Meta-analyses of randomized, placebo-controlled double-blind trials

Example Linde et al. (1997)

Example Shang et al. (2005)

Example Mathie et al. (2014)

Conclusion Meta-analyses RCTs

Clinical homeopathy research in the overall context of EBM

Basic research on homeopathy

Nanoparticles

Quantum effects

Field effects

Example Doesburg et al. (2019)

Conclusion Basic research

What is complex homeopathy?

Despite its name, complex homeopathy is not complicated, but a simple and effective method of curing diseases. Homeopathic complex remedies are sensibly coordinated mixtures of natural remedies. These are combined in such a way that they complement and reinforce each other in the healing of a disease. Therapy with these substances is effective, safe and based on over 200 years of experience. Millions of people all over the world trust this form of treatment to solve their health problems in a gentle and sustainable way, because the successes convince them time and again.[1][2] The effectiveness of homeopathy has also been proven by numerous scientific studies.[3][4]

Supplement or alternative?

Depending on the illness, homeopathic complex remedies are used either as an alternative to the chemical medicines of conventional medicine or as a supplement to them. This is because the future of medicine is integrative: it makes use of all available treatment options from conventional and natural medicine, each of which offers the individual patient the best chance of healing.[5][6]

Conventional medical methods celebrate their great successes above all in life-threatening conditions, for example in intensive care medicine. Here they are indispensable. The same applies to many diseases in which organs are irretrievably destroyed, as is the case, for example, with type I diabetes.[7] Such health problems should not be treated with homeopathy alone. Its role in this field is limited to supporting vital measures. For example, intensive care physician Professor Michael Frass of the Medical University of Vienna was able to show in a study that ventilated COPD patients could be weaned from ventilation and discharged from intensive care much more quickly with homeopathic adjunctive therapy.[8]

For acute illnesses that do not require immediate hospital treatment and for many chronic conditions, the disadvantages of chemical preparations often outweigh the benefits. They have side effects that can cancel out their positive effects, especially if they are taken over a long period of time. The renowned medical researcher Professor Peter Gøtzsche identifies side effects of medicines as the third most frequent cause of death in Europe and the USA - directly behind heart disease and cancer - on the basis of broad data.[9] Moreover, conventional medicine often just puts the problem on the back burner because it can alleviate symptoms for a short time, but does not tackle their cause at the root.

In many cases, therefore, complex homeopathy is the better choice. It has almost no side effects, and it does not suppress the symptoms of the disease, but stimulates the body to activate its self-healing powers. This makes it one of the stimulus-response therapies, which are all based on the same principle: In the case of illness, the organism is in an imbalance. The therapist now sets impulses that stimulate it to find its balance again on its own. This class of treatment methods also includes, for example, acupuncture[10] and some classical naturopathic treatments, such as Kneipp's water showers.[11]

Complex remedies, homeopathy and medicinal plant therapy

Medicinal plants can serve as the basis for homeopathic complex remedies, as they are also used in medicinal plant or phytotherapy, for example camomile. However, animal products, such as squid ink, or chemical elements and their compounds, such as sulphur or sodium chloride, are also used. In some cases, the basic substances of complex remedies are diluted and shaken over several stages according to the rules of homeopathic remedy production. This process is called potentisation. However, some substances are also used in very low potency levels, or even completely undiluted. In complex remedies, homeopathy is thus partly reinforced by the power of phytotherapy and vice versa.

This is a difference to so-called "classical homeopathy", in which relatively high dilutions of the remedies are usually administered. In addition, classical homeopaths prescribe only one remedy at a time, whereas complex remedies contain several active ingredients that have been proven to cure a disease in different ways and therefore reinforce and complement each other. Common to both approaches is that the selection of the potentised substances is based on the so-called similarity or simile principle.

Simile principle

The word "homeopathy" comes from the Greek and is composed of the words "similar" (homoion) and "suffering" (pathos). Accordingly, a substance can cure symptoms in the case of illness which it

can produce in a similar form in a healthy person. This connection is the basis of the so-called simile or similarity principle.

Its use can be explained, for example, using the kitchen onion (Allium cepa): In healthy people, it causes clear flowing sniffles and burning eye tears for a short time. Homeopathically, it is thus used, for example, for colds that are accompanied by complaints similar to those that occur when cutting onions.

Potentiation

Another characteristic of homeopathy is the pharmaceutical process of potentisation. In this process, the starting substance is gradually diluted and shaken. The resulting remedies are designated with certain combinations of letters and numbers. For example, the potency level D6 stands for a preparation that has been diluted six times in a ratio of 1:10 (D = decimal or decimal power) and thoroughly shaken after each dilution step.

This special form of remedy preparation is bindingly regulated in the regulations of the official homeopathic pharmacopoeia (HAB).[12] The use of relatively small amounts of the starting substances ensures that homeopathic remedies are free from pharmacological side effects. Complex remedies differ from the high potencies of classical homeopathy in that many starting substances are contained in harmless but still analytically detectable quantities.

History of complex homeopathy

At the end of the 18th century, the German physician Samuel Hahnemann (1755 - 1843) encountered a form of medicine that often did more harm than good: bloodletting, bloody cupping and the administration of strong, sometimes toxic substances were part of the repertoire of the physicians of that time. Hahnemann broke with these practices and developed the simile principle and the effect of potentised remedies on the basis of self-experimentation. Homeopathy was born. In the period that followed, the researcher continued to develop his theory and practice. Hahnemann's therapeutic successes soon provided him with countless students, imitators, and he soon enjoyed an international reputation. In 1810, Hahnemann's fundamental work on homeopathy was published under the title "Organon der rationellen Heilkunde", from the second edition onwards "Organon der Heilkunst".[13]

As early as Hahnemann's time, some homeopaths attempted to use several potentised medicines at the same time. Their healing successes were just as impressive as those that could be achieved with single remedies. Therefore, both approaches continued to develop fruitfully. Emanuel Felke (1856-1926) is regarded as an important pioneer of modern complex homeopathy. In addition to his theological studies, he was concerned with medical topics, especially with various naturopathic forms of treatment. His special homeopathic approach was to combine remedies that acted on different organs or tissues affected by a disease.[14] His complex remedies were therefore not mere mixtures of remedies all indicated for the same disease. Rather, they had a holistic effect on health disorders from several starting points. Complex homeopathy, which has been continuously developed since Felke's time, stands in this tradition.

Conclusion

Complex homeopathy is an independent form of therapy that combines the best of classical homeopathy and phytotherapy.[15] It combines harmonised remedies into formulations that stimulate the organism to heal itself on several levels and positively influence disease processes from different sides. Complex homeopathy is very suitable for self-administration, especially for simple diseases. However, it is even more effective in the hands of qualified therapists.

Many complex remedies are approved by the Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices (BfArM) for the treatment of certain diseases. In order to receive this indication-related approval and to be allowed to name it on the medicine's packaging, scientific proof of efficacy must be provided.[16] In this respect, such complex remedies differ from merely registered homeopathic Medicines for which no specific therapeutic area of application may be named by law.

Research on homeopathy

In the following sections, scientific findings on homeopathy are presented. It is about the areas of health care research, controlled studies and basic research. Data on the safety of homeopathy will also be looked at. Those who do not like technical details on clinical trials and laboratory experiments can simply read the respective conclusion.

Health services research

Randomized, (placebo) controlled trials (RCTs) are considered the "gold standard" of clinical research. They allow a relatively reliable causal conclusion from the medical intervention used to the therapeutic effect. However, research results from RCTs can only be transferred to everyday clinical practice to a limited extent. Therefore, studies that examine the effectiveness of therapies under the real conditions of health care are also significant.[17] In health care research, homeopathy is usually examined as a complete therapy procedure (admission consultation, administration of medication, follow-up consultations, etc.). It therefore does not allow direct causal conclusions to be drawn about the specific effect of potentised medicines.

Example Witt el al. (2005)

This outcome study [18] on homeopathy conducted at the Charité Hospital in Berlin is the largest observational study on outpatient homeopathic care in the German-speaking world to date. Witt et al (2005) studied 3,981 patients who were treated by 103 homeopathic physicians in health insurance and private practices according to the rules of classical homeopathy, initially for two and finally for eight years[19]. The most common diseases were headaches and migraines in women, allergic rhinitis and hypertension in men, and neurodermatitis and susceptibility to infections in children, 97% of which were chronic conditions across all patient groups. The patients had been suffering from their disease for an average of 8.8 years, and 95% of the patients had already received conventional treatment before the start of the study.

The homeopathic treatment led to an average reduction of clinical symptoms by about 50% as well as a significant improvement in quality of life. The greatest reduction in symptoms occurred within the first three months of treatment. After 24 months, according to the patients, 23% of the initially present symptoms were completely lifted, and 13% of the study participants reported that they no longer had any health complaints at all. The observed improvement in symptoms and quality of life

were stable over eight years. Lower age and more severe disease correlated with greater improvement.

Example EPI3 cohort (2012-2016)

The EPI3 cohort study examined a total of 8,559 patients in France who were receiving treatment from 825 doctors with and without additional homeopathic qualifications. The researchers analysed the data with regard to the therapeutic effects for various diseases and also took into account how many conventional medicines were prescribed in the respective practices.

With regard to upper respiratory tract diseases in adults and children in 518 cases, the researchers found that about 50% fewer antibiotics, anti-inflammatory drugs and antipyretics were prescribed in homeopathic compared to purely conventional medical practices. The therapeutic success in the homeopathy group was equal to that in the comparison group.[20]

Similar data were collected for the field of musculoskeletal diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, using 1,153 cases: After 12 months of therapy, no significant difference in treatment results could be found between homeopathic and conventional doctors. However, the former prescribed only about half of the otherwise standard non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and painkillers.[21]

In the subgroup of mental disorders, the data of 710 people suffering from depression and anxiety disorders were evaluated. A greater reduction in clinical symptoms was observed for the subjects who received treatment from homeopathic doctors compared to purely conventional practices. At the same time, the probability of being prescribed psychotropic drugs was less than one third for these patients compared to the comparison group.[22]

Conclusion of health services research

Observational and outcome studies based on clinical practice show relatively uniform results in a wide range of disease areas: patients who receive homeopathic treatment experience clinically relevant improvements in their symptoms as well as an increase in quality of life. The effects are regularly of similar magnitude compared to conventional therapy, but there are significantly fewer side effects.[23] Patients who have not experienced sufficient improvement with conventional treatments also frequently benefit from homeopathy.[24] Doctors with additional homeopathic training prescribe about 50% fewer synthetic medicines for various diseases. 50% fewer synthetic medicines for various conditions, for example antibiotics[25], non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs[26] and psychotropic drugs.[27] The majority of available health economic studies on homeopathy found health improvements equivalent to those of the conventionally treated control group, if any - with cost savings at the same time.[28] The results of these studies are very positive.

Safety

Representative surveys [29] of homeopathy users regularly reveal that it is a form of therapy considered to be particularly safe and to have few side effects. The perceived harmlessness of the potentised medicines is even given by many patients as a decisive reason for their therapy decision, as a qualitative study of the University of Bremen found. [30]

These subjective impressions are confirmed by studies: A meta-analysis by Ernst and Grabia (2003)[31], which evaluated 24 RCTs, presented 63 cases of adverse drug reactions in the verum

group (1.54% of the subjects). This contrasted with 50 cases (1.45% of subjects) from the placebo group.

Stub et al. (2020)[32] calculated in a review of 18 observational studies that the number of adverse effects was significantly higher for conventional medicine compared to homeopathy. And no serious side effects of homeopathic medicines were reported.

It is also true for complex remedies, which contain partially weighable doses of the starting substances, that they can be used safely: Potentially toxic substances are subject to prescription up to the third decimal potency (D3) according to federal regulations (Scribas Table), which prevents careless use.[33] Furthermore, quality assurance is legally binding through the Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia. With qualified prescription or proper use of potentised medicines, toxic effects and other undesirable effects are almost impossible.

Meta-analyses of randomized, placebo-controlled double-blind studies

According to the ideas of evidence-based medicine (EBM), the most reliable findings on the efficacy of a therapeutic procedure can be obtained from meta-analyses of high-quality randomized controlled trials. Both proponents and critics of homeopathy therefore often refer to such reviews to support their respective positions. In the following, an overview of meta-analyses of clinical homeopathy studies is therefore given by means of examples.

Example Linde et al. (1997)

Under the question of whether the clinical efficacy of homeopathy could be explained exclusively by placebo effects, Linde and colleagues conducted a meta-analysis[34] of all randomized, placebo-controlled double-blind studies on homeopathy. Of 119 studies found, 89 contained sufficient data to be included in the meta-analysis. For this pool, significant superiority of homeopathy over placebo was found. For the 26 studies classified as of high methodological quality, Linde et al. calculated a smaller but still significant effect over placebo. Also for the subgroup of studies on non-individualised prescribing, which includes complex homeopathy, a significant superiority over placebo was found.

Example Shang et al. (2005)

This work [35] has probably triggered the most media coverage of all scientific works on homeopathy. Shang et al. (2005) used almost the same data pool as Linde et al. (1997), but only 8 of the 110 studies initially examined were included in the final analysis. These 8 studies were selected as the largest from an initial pool of 21 that showed high methodological quality. The combined odds ratio [36] of these 8 studies did not indicate any significant effects of homeopathy over placebo.

This meta-analysis was met with critical comments from several authors who pointed out several significant weaknesses in the work. The most important seems to be the fact that the analysis of the 21 high-quality studies demonstrates a significant superiority of homeopathy over placebo.[37] Moreover, the negative result finally presented by the authors depends significantly on a single study investigating the efficacy of a homeopathic remedy for the prevention of muscle soreness.

Example Mathie et al. (2014)

This meta-analysis [38] included only studies whose therapeutic mode could be classified as "individualized homeopathy". The quality assessment by risk of bias according to the high standards of the Cochrane Collaboration[39] was also a novelty. Of the 32 included papers, 22 provided sufficient data to be included in the final analysis. These studies provided a significant positive result for homeopathy. The evaluation of the methodological quality, however, led to only three studies being classified as reliable. Their combined evaluation also provided significant effects over placebo, but the authors could not draw any final conclusions from only three studies, especially as they all investigated different indications.

Mathie and colleagues provided three more meta-analyses on homeopathy by 2019, each examining different study designs, e.g. those with non-individualized (clinical) prescribing or those in which the control group did not receive placebo but another treatment. The results of these papers are broadly similar to those presented here from Mathie (2014).[40]

Conclusion Meta-Analyses RCTs

Overall, with regard to the indication-independent meta-analyses on homeopathy published to date (n = 8), it emerges that, as a rule, a specific efficacy of potentised medicines beyond placebo is recognizable, even in the methodologically high-quality studies. The overall result is only negative in each case (homeopathy=placebo) if the majority (90-95%) of the available data are excluded from the evaluation and/or questionable statistical methods are applied.[41] However, the authors more or less agree that the evidence situation does not allow definite conclusions, especially with regard to individual diseases. This is because there is a lack of high-quality studies as well as independent replications.

Clinical homeopathy research in the overall context of EBM

88% of 1,128 of the methodologically highest quality reviews of clinical trials (Cochrane reviews) call for more research. 45% of these publications present results that do not allow conclusions to be drawn on the usefulness/harmfulness of the therapy studied. Only 2% of all medical procedures that have been studied according to Cochrane standards are considered to be safely helpful and have clear scientific evidence.[42] Based on the available research results, homeopathy should provisionally be classified in the 45% group of interventions that are presumably helpful but need to be better researched.

Compared to very many treatments of conventional medicine, which are clearly more widespread despite lower or even negative evidence, homeopathy is in a better position based on the overall evidence from clinical studies than the regular critical media reports might have suggested.

Basic research on homeopathy

Some homeopathic complex remedies contain measurable concentrations of active ingredients. Up to a certain limit, their effects can therefore be explained with recourse to common scientific ideas. The frequently used potency D6, however, already corresponds to a dilution ratio of 1:1000,000 - the amount of starting substance contained would have to be given in micrograms. In this concentration, however, most of the substances used no longer have an effect according to classical ideas. Therefore, even with the indisputably effective complex homeopathy with its deep potencies, other mechanisms must also be at work.

A specific effect of potentised medicines can no longer be explained with recourse to the classical pharmacon model "molecule acts on cell receptor", at the latest with dilution ratios beyond the Avogadro constant [43]. Experimental laboratory research on homeopathy therefore examines on the one hand whether empirical evidence for a difference between homeopathics and solvents is observable. Physicochemical test procedures [44], such as nuclear magnetic resonance measurements [45], plant bioassays or animal models are used for this purpose. On the other hand, homeopathic basic researchers try to make the active principle of high potencies comprehensible in scientific categories through corresponding theory building. Various approaches exist for this.

Nanoparticles

In 2010, Indian researchers claimed to have detected residual molecules of the original substance in highly potentised medicines by means of electron transmission microscopy. [46] Repeats of these experiments in Europe in 2018 produced contradictory results. [47] Reliable independent replications of the claimed observations would therefore first have to be made. [48] Even if the nanohypothesis were correct, it would still have to be clarified which receptors in the organism should react to a few particles that are presumably unable to trigger pharmacological effects in the classical sense.

Quantum effects

A completely different theory assumes that homeopathic medicines do not "contain" a chemical or physical signal in the classical sense. Rather, they are said to be the medium of non-local quantum effects. [49] According to this theory, these produce an "entanglement" between the original substance of the remedy and the patient, which optionally also includes the therapist. [50] Entanglement phenomena have meanwhile been experimentally demonstrated not only for subatomic particles, but also for large atomic assemblies. [51] However, as far as the explanation of effects of homeopathic high potencies is concerned, the entanglement theory has so far been purely speculative. [52] The theory of entanglement has not yet been applied to homeopathic remedies.

Field effects

The third and last group of models assumes that homeopathic medicines do transmit local signals in the classical physical sense. However, the information is not supposed to be directly bound to residual particles of the original substance, but to be mediated by a differently "stored" electromagnetic or similar field. One group of these field hypotheses has been discussed under the heading "memory of water".[53] The idea here is that water forms substance-specific liquid-crystalline structures (clusters) that persist even when no atom of the original substance is present due to serial dilution. In fact, such clusters do exist - but they are only stable in the range of picoseconds and thus are not able to be information carriers.[54] Nevertheless, there are indications of a possible field effect of homeopathic high potencies.[55] Nuclear magnetic resonance measurements also indicate a change in the water molecule dynamics in these substances.[56] In addition, there are indications that the water molecule dynamics in these substances have changed.

Example Doesburg et al. (2019)

At present, the most interesting candidate for a stable experimental set-up to demonstrate specific effects of potentised preparations might be a recent experiment [57]: Doesburg et al. were able to show, with the aid of computer-assisted optical analysis, that the crystallization images of powdered

cress seedlings growing under the influence of highly potentised tin (Stannum D30) exhibited specific characteristics that did not show up under treatment with placebo. The observed differences were stable and of a relevant magnitude. The experiments were carried out several times in different laboratories and took place under randomized double-blind conditions. Systematic negative controls documented the reliability of the test system. A further replication of this experimental set-up by an independent research team could have far-reaching significance for the empirical proof of specific effects of potentised substances.

Conclusion Basic research

In the more than 1,000 scientific publications on homeopathic basic research, there are a considerable number of high-quality studies that observed specific effects of highly potentised remedies. There are also a few successfully independently replicated experimental models. [58][59] However, the measured effects are often so small or scatter so strongly that they are close to the "noise limit" of the test systems used. [60] Overall, it remains to be said that there are also too many "positive" findings in preclinical research on homeopathy, even from methodologically high-quality studies, to be explained without further ado by the placebo hypothesis. However, a generally accepted scientific proof is still lacking. This is because there is a lack of multiple independent replications of experiments with always the same result. Homeopathy must therefore be classified as a scientific anomaly, i.e. as a phenomenon that can only be inadequately explained with recourse to common theories. This applies above all to the high potencies. The principle of action of low potencies can be partially explained by classical pharmacological models. Here, among other things, the principle of hormesis[61] comes into consideration: Low amounts of toxic substances can have positive effects on organisms. In the case of complex remedies containing different potency levels, there is probably an interlocking of different mechanisms of action.

- [1] https://www.igm-bosch.de/homöopathie-weltweit.html
- [2] Relton C, Cooper K, Viksveen P, Fibert P, Thomas K. Prevalence of homeopathy use by the general population worldwide: a systematic review. Homeopathy. 2017 May;106(2):69-78. doi: 10.1016/j.homp.2017.03.002. Epub 2017 Apr 7. PMID: 28552176. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28552176/
- [3] https://www.hri-research.org/de/informationsquellen/wichtiges-forschungsmaterial/
- [4] Weiermayer P, Frass M, Peinbauer T, Ellinger L. Evidenzbasierte Veterinär-/Homöopathie und ihre mögliche Bedeutung für die Bekämpfung der Antibiotikaresistenzproblematik ein Überblick [Evidence-based homeopathy and veterinary homeopathy, and its potential to help overcome the anti-microbial resistance problem an overview]. Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd. 2020 Oct;162(10):597-615. https://sat.gstsvs.ch/fileadmin/datapool upload/lgJournal/Artikel/pdf/SAT 10 2020 Weiermayer.pdf
- [5] https://www.weils-hilft.de/informieren/zahlen-und-fakten#was-bedeutet-eigentlich-integrative-medizin
- [6] Seetharaman M, Krishnan G, Schneider RH. The Future of Medicine: Frontiers in Integrative Health and Medicine. Medicina (Kaunas). 2021 Nov 28;57(12):1303. doi: 10.3390/medicina57121303. PMID: 34946248; PMCID: PMC8707659. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8707659/

- [7] https://www.gesundheitsinformation.de/diabetes-typ-1.html
- [8] Frass M, Dielacher C, Linkesch M, Endler C, Muchitsch I, Schuster E, Kaye A. Influence of potassium dichromate on tracheal secretions in critically ill patients. Chest. 2005 Mar;127(3):936-41. doi: 10.1378/chest.127.3.936. PMID: 15764779. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15764779/
- [9] Gøtzsche PC. Our prescription drugs kill us in large numbers. Pol Arch Med Wewn. 2014;124(11):628-34. doi: 10.20452/pamw.2503. Epub 2014 Oct 30. PMID: 25355584. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25355584/
- [10] https://www.evidencebasedacupuncture.org/
- [11] https://www.kneippbund.de/gesundheitsidee/wasser/
- [12] https://www.bfarm.de/DE/Arzneimittel/Zulassung/Zulassungsrelevante-Themen/Arzneibuch/ node.html
- [13] http://www.homeoint.org/books4/organon/index.htm
- [14] Sahler, Andrea Maria. Homöopathische Komplexmittel. Ihre historische Entwicklung, ihre Begründer und ihre gegenwärtige Bedeutung. München: Pflaum, 2003.
- [15] Jütte R, Riley D. A review of the use and role of low potencies in homeopathy. Complement Ther Med. 2005 Dec;13(4):291-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2005.10.003. Epub 2005 Nov 16. PMID: 16338200. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16338200/
- [16] https://www.bfarm.de/DE/Arzneimittel/Zulassung/Zulassungsarten/Besondere-Therapierichtungen-und-traditionelle-Arzneimittel/Homoeopathische-und-anthroposophische-Arzneimittel/KriterienIndikationen.html
- [17] Walach H, Falkenberg T, Fønnebø V, Lewith G, Jonas WB. Circular instead of hierarchical: methodological principles for the evaluation of complex interventions. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2006 Jun 24;6:29. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-6-29. PMID: 16796762; PMCID: PMC1540434. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1540434/
- [18] Witt CM, Lüdtke R, Baur R, Willich SN. Homeopathic medical practice: long-term results of a cohort study with 3981 patients. BMC Public Health. 2005 Nov 3;5:115. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-5-115. PMID: 16266440; PMCID: PMC1298309. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1298309/
- [19] Witt, C.M., Lüdtke, R., Mengler, N. et al. How healthy are chronically ill patients after eight years of homeopathic treatment? Results from a long term observational study. BMC Public Health 8, 413 (2008). https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2458-8-413
- [20] Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Bégaud B, Rossignol M, Avouac B, Lert F, Rouillon F, Bénichou J, Massol J, Duru G, Magnier AM, Abenhaim L, Guillemot D. Management of upper respiratory tract infections by different medical practices, including homeopathy, and consumption of antibiotics in primary care: the EPI3 cohort study in France 2007-2008. PLoS One. 2014 Mar 19;9(3):e89990. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089990. PMID: 24646513; PMCID: PMC3960096. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24646513
- [21] Rossignol M, Begaud B, Engel P, Avouac B, Lert F, Rouillon F, Bénichou J, Massol J, Duru G, Magnier AM, Guillemot D, Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Abenhaim L; EPI3-LA-SER group. Impact of physician preferences for homeopathic or conventional medicines on patients with musculoskeletal disorders: results from the EPI3-MSD cohort. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2012 Oct;21(10):1093-101. doi: 10.1002/pds.3316. Epub 2012 Jul 11. PMID: 22782803. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22782803
- [22] Grimaldi-Bensouda, L., Abenhaim, L., Massol, J. et al. Homeopathic medical practice for anxiety and depression in primary care: the EPI3 cohort study. BMC Complement Altern Med 16, 125 (2016). https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12906-016-1104-2

- [23] https://www.carstens-stiftung.de/artikel/versorgungsforschung-zur-homoeopathie.html
- [24] Witt CM, Lüdtke R, Baur R, Willich SN. Homeopathic medical practice: long-term results of a cohort study with 3981 patients. BMC Public Health. 2005 Nov 3;5:115. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-5-115. PMID: 16266440; PMCID: PMC1298309. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1298309/
- [25] Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Bégaud B, Rossignol M, Avouac B, Lert F, Rouillon F, Bénichou J, Massol J, Duru G, Magnier AM, Abenhaim L, Guillemot D. Management of upper respiratory tract infections by different medical practices, including homeopathy, and consumption of antibiotics in primary care: the EPI3 cohort study in France 2007-2008. PLoS One. 2014 Mar 19;9(3):e89990. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089990. PMID: 24646513; PMCID: PMC3960096. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3960096/
- [26] Rossignol, M., Begaud, B., Engel, P., Avouac, B., Lert, F., Rouillon, F., Bénichou, J., Massol, J., Duru, G., Magnier, A.-M., Guillemot, D., Grimaldi-Bensouda, L., Abenhaim, L. and (2012), Impact of physician preferences for homeopathic or conventional medicines on patients with musculoskeletal disorders: results from the EPI3-MSD cohort. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf, 21: 1093-1101. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/pds.3316
- [27] Grimaldi-Bensouda L, Abenhaim L, Massol J, Guillemot D, Avouac B, Duru G, Lert F, Magnier AM, Rossignol M, Rouillon F, Begaud B; EPI3-LA-SER group. Homeopathic medical practice for anxiety and depression in primary care: the EPI3 cohort study. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2016 May 4;16:125. doi: 10.1186/s12906-016-1104-2. PMID: 27145957; PMCID: PMC4855343. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27145957
- [28] Viksveen, Petter & Dymitr, Zofia & Simoens, Steven. (2013). Economic evaluations of homeopathy: A review. The European journal of health economics: HEPAC: health economics in prevention and care. 15. 10.1007/s10198-013-0462-7.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235442885 Economic evaluations of homeopathy A review

- [29] Sartori, C., Osterkamp, N., Uebing, C., Linde, K. (2014): Homöopathie in der gesetzlichen Krankenversicherung: Modelle, Erfahrungen und Bewertungen. Bertelsmann Gesundheitsmonitor 03/2014. https://www.bertelsmann-stiftung.de/fileadmin/files/BSt/Presse/imported/downloads/xcms bst dms 40127 40128 2.pdf
- [30] Stamer, M., Müller, V.E., Berger, B., Schmacke, N. (2010): Perspektiven von Patientinnen und Patienten auf ihre Versorgung durch homöopathisch tätige Ärzte und Ärztinnen: Eine qualitative Studie. Abschlussbericht. Bremen. https://www.akg.uni-bremen.de/pages/arbeitspapierBeschreibung.php%3FID=28&SPRACHE=DE.html
- [31] Grabia S, Ernst E. Homeopathic aggravations: a systematic review of randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trials. Homeopathy. 2003 Apr;92(2):92-8. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12725251/
- [32] Stub T, Kristoffersen AE, Overvåg G, Jong MC, Musial F, Liu J. Adverse effects in homeopathy. A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Explore (NY). 2020 Nov 28:S1550-8307(20)30379-7. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33303386/
- [33] Wiesenauer, M. (2014): Homöopathie für Ärzte und Apotheker, Bd. 2, einschließlich 16. Aktualisierungsliefe-rung 2014. Stuttgart: Deutscher Apotheker Verlag, S. 3/10.
- [34] Linde K, Clausius N, Ramirez G, Melchart D, Eitel F, Hedges LV, Jonas WB. Are the clinical effects of homeopathy placebo effects? A meta-analysis of placebo-controlled trials. Lancet. 1997 Sep 20;350(9081):834-43. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(97)02293-9. Erratum in: Lancet 1998 Jan 17;351(9097):220. PMID: 9310601. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9310601
- [35] Shang A, Huwiler-Müntener K, Nartey L, Jüni P, Dörig S, Sterne JA, Pewsner D, Egger M. Are the clinical effects of homoeopathy placebo effects? Comparative study of placebo-controlled trials of homoeopathy and allopathy. Lancet. 2005 Aug 27-Sep 2;366(9487):726-32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67177-2. PMID: 16125589. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16125589

- [36] Die Odds Ratio, kurz OR, oder das Quotenverhältnis ist eine Messzahl aus der Statistik, die etwas über die Stärke eines Zusammenhangs von zwei Merkmalen aussagt. Hier geht es darum, ob eine Besserung in der Homöopathiegruppe deutlich häufiger auftritt als in der Placebogruppe. https://statistikguru.de/lexikon/odds-ratio.html
- [37] Lüdtke R, Rutten ALB. The conclusions on the effectiveness of homeopathy highly depend on the set of analyzed trials. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008 Dec;61(12):1197-1204. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2008.06.015. Epub 2008 Oct 1. PMID: 18834714. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18834714
- [38] Mathie, R.T., Lloyd, S.M., Legg, L.A. et al. Randomised placebo-controlled trials of individualised homeopathic treatment: systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev 3, 142 (2014). https://systematicreviewsjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/2046-4053-3-142
- [39] https://www.cochrane.de
- $\underline{[40]\ https://www.carstens-stiftung.de/artikel/klinische-forschung-zur-homoeopathie-systematische-uebersichtsarbeiten-mit-meta-\underline{analyse-nach-cochran.html}$
- [41] Hahn R, G: Homeopathy: Meta-Analyses of Pooled Clinical Data. Forsch Komplementmed 2013;20:376-381. https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/355916
- [42] Villas Boas PJ, Spagnuolo RS, Kamegasawa A, Braz LG, Polachini do Valle A, Jorge EC, Yoo HH, Cataneo AJ, Corrêa I, Fukushima FB, do Nascimento P Jr, Módolo NS, Teixeira MS, de Oliveira Vidal EI, Daher SR, El Dib R. Systematic reviews showed insufficient evidence for clinical practice in 2004: what about in 2011? The next appeal for the evidence-based medicine age. J Eval Clin Pract. 2013 Aug;19(4):633-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2012.01877.x. Epub 2012 Jul 3. PMID: 22747638. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22747638/
- [43] https://www.chemie-schule.de/KnowHow/Avogadro-Konstante
- [44] Klein SD, Würtenberger S, Wolf U, Baumgartner S, Tournier A. Physicochemical Investigations of Homeopathic Preparations: A Systematic Review and Bibliometric Analysis-Part 1. J Altern Complement Med. 2018 May;24(5):409-421. doi: 10.1089/acm.2017.0249. Epub 2018 Jan 29. PMID: 29377709; PMCID: PMC5961874. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5961874/
- [45] Demangeat JL. Nanosized solvent superstructures in ultramolecular aqueous dilutions: twenty years' research using water proton NMR relaxation. Homeopathy. 2013 Apr;102(2):87-105. doi: 10.1016/j.homp.2013.01.001. PMID: 23622259. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23622259
- [46] Chikramane PS, Suresh AK, Bellare JR, Kane SG. Extreme homeopathic dilutions retain starting materials: A nanoparticulate perspective. Homeopathy. 2010 Oct;99(4):231-42. doi: 10.1016/j.homp.2010.05.006. PMID: 20970092. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20970092
- [47] Van Wassenhoven M, Goyens M, Capieaux E, Devos P, Dorfman P. Nanoparticle Characterisation of Traditional Homeopathically Manufactured Cuprum metallicum and Gelsemium sempervirens Medicines and Controls. Homeopathy. 2018 Nov;107(4):244-263. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1666864. Epub 2018 Aug 25. PMID: 30144789. https://www.thieme-connect.de/products/ejournals/pdf/10.1055/s-0038-1666864.pdf
- [48] Upadhyay, Rajendra & Nayak, Chaturbhuja. (2011). Homeopathy emerging as nanomedicine. International Journal of High Dilution Research. 10. 10.51910/ijhdr.v10i37.525. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267767309 Homeopathy emerging as nanomedicine
- [49] Walach H. Entanglement model of homeopathy as an example of generalized entanglement predicted by weak quantum theory. Forsch Komplementarmed Klass Naturheilkd. 2003 Aug;10(4):192-200. doi: 10.1159/000073475. PMID: 12972724. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12972724/

Entanglement Model of Homeopathy as an Example of Generalized Entanglement Predicted by Weak Quantum Theory. Forsch Komplementärmed Klass Naturheilkd 2003;10:192–200 https://www.karger.com/Article/PDF/73475

- [50] Milgrom LR. Is homeopathy possible? Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health. 2006;126(5):211-218. doi:10.1177/1466424006068237
- [51] Zarkeshian, P., Deshmukh, C., Sinclair, N. et al. Entanglement between more than two hundred macroscopic atomic ensembles in a solid. Nat Commun 8, 906 (2017). https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-017-00897-7
- [52] Fisher P. Is quantum entanglement in homeopathy a reality? Homeopathy. 2016 Aug;105(3):209-210. doi: 10.1016/j.homp.2016.06.001. PMID: 27473540. https://www.thieme-connect.com/products/ejournals/abstract/10.1016/j.homp.2016.06.001
- [53] Chaplin MF. The Memory of Water: an overview. Homeopathy. 2007 Jul;96(3):143-50. doi: 10.1016/j.homp.2007.05.006. PMID: 17678809. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17678809
- [54] Teixeira, José. (2007). Can water possibly have a memory? A sceptical view. Homeopathy: the journal of the Faculty of Homeopathy. 96. 158-62. 10.1016/j.homp.2007.05.001. https://bit.ly/2kycC5F
- [55] Harrer, Bernhard. (2013). Replication of an experiment on extremely diluted thyroxine and highland amphibians. Homeopathy: the journal of the Faculty of Homeopathy. 102. 25-30. 10.1016/j.homp.2012.09.003. https://bit.ly/2lDaRo3
- [56] Tournier A, Klein SD, Würtenberger S, Wolf U, Baumgartner S. Physicochemical Investigations of Homeopathic Preparations: A Systematic Review and Bibliometric Analysis-Part 2. J Altern Complement Med. 2019 Sep;25(9):890-901. doi: 10.1089/acm.2019.0064. Epub 2019 Jul 19. PMID: 31290681; PMCID: PMC6760181. https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/pdf/10.1089/acm.2019.0064
- [57] Doesburg P, Andersen JO, Scherr C, Baumgartner S. Empirical investigation of preparations produced according to the European Pharmacopoeia monograph 1038. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2019 Sep 1;137:104987. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2019.104987. Epub 2019 Jul 8. PMID: 31295547. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31295547/
- [58] https://www.carstens-stiftung.de/artikel/stand-der-grundlagenforschung-in-der-homoeopathie.html
- [59] Endler PC, Bellavite P, Bonamin L, Jäger T, Mazon S. Replications of fundamental research models in ultra high dilutions 1994 and 2015–update on a bibliometric study. Homeopathy. 2015 Oct;104(4):234-45. doi: 10.1016/j.homp.2015.10.003. Epub 2015 Nov 25. PMID: 26678723. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26678723
- [60] Klein SD, Würtenberger S, Wolf U, Baumgartner S, Tournier A. Physicochemical Investigations of Homeopathic Preparations: A Systematic Review and Bibliometric Analysis-Part 1. J Altern Complement Med. 2018 May;24(5):409-421. doi: 10.1089/acm.2017.0249. Epub 2018 Jan 29. PMID: 29377709; PMCID: PMC5961874. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29377709
- [61] https://www.pflanzenforschung.de/de/pflanzenwissen/lexikon-a-z/hormesis

Author: Dr Jens Behnke is an expert in research on complementary therapies. He worked for many years as programme manager "Integrative Medicine" at the Karl and Veronica Carstens Foundation in Essen. He is the author of diverse specialist publications and a speaker on topics such as naturopathic medicine, homeopathy and acupuncture.

Copyright © 2023 FAKOM. All Rights Reserved.